No. 23-CF-175



Received 06/27/2023 09:38 AM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Resubmitted 06/27/2023 10:47 AM Filed 06/27/2023 10:47 AM

WAYNE D. ROBERTSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES,

Appellee.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court Criminal Division, Felony Branch

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT WAYNE D. ROBERTSON

Peter H. Meyers Bar No. 26443 2000 G Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20052 (202) 994-7463 PMeyers@law.gwu.edu Counsel for Appellant Appointed by the Court

LISTING OF PARTIES

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the trial court erred in concluding as a matter of law that Mr. Robertson could be convicted of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device without evidence that the device was operable.
- II. Whether the trial court erred denying Mr. Robertson's motion to suppress the evidence seized from him after a *Terry* stop and frisk conducted without reasonable suspicion that Mr. Robertson was involved in any illegal activity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Proceedings

Mr. Wayne D. Robertson was indicted for five offenses arising out of his arrest on July 22, 2022, in the 500 block of R Street, N.W., in the District of Columbia.¹

¹ Mr. Robertson was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm (prior conviction), in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1), (b)(1) (2001 ed.); carrying a pistol without a license (outside a home or place of business), in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(2) (2001 ed.); possession of an unregistered firearm, in violation

Counsel for Mr. Robertson filed a pre-trial motion to suppress all the evidence seized from him after his stop and search on July 22, 2022, including a pistol, ammunition, and a large capacity ammunition feeding device, arguing that the *Terry*² stop and frisk of Mr. Robertson was conducted illegally, without reasonable, articulable suspicion. R. 12, at 1. The government filed an opposition on October 28, 2022. R. 15. Defense counsel filed a reply on November 6, 2022. R. 17. An evidentiary hearing on the suppression motion was held before Associate Judge Sean C. Staples on November 7, 2022. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Staples denied the motion to suppress, finding that there was reasonable suspicion to stop and frisk Mr. Robertson. Tr. 11/7/22 at 178-80.

The next morning, counsel for Mr. Robertson and counsel for the United States filed with the court an agreement under which Mr. Robertson waived his right to a jury trial, R. 18, and submitted an agreed stipulation of facts. R. 19. Judge Staples accepted the jury trial waiver and the stipulated facts. Tr. 11/8/22 at 14-19. Counsel for Mr. Robertson then moved for a judgment of acquittal on all five counts, *id.* at 16, but the court found Mr. Robertson guilty, based upon the stipulated facts,

of D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a) (2001 ed.); unlawful possession of ammunition, in violation of D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(3) (2001 ed.); and possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, in violation of D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b) (2001 ed.). *See* the Indictment, in the Record on Appeal (hereafter "R.") 10 at 1-2.

² Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

of four of the five counts – all counts except possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device. *Id.* at 17. The court gave the parties the opportunity to submit legal memoranda on the issue of whether the stipulated facts were sufficient to find Mr. Robertson guilty of that offense. *Id.*

The government argued that Mr. Robertson was guilty of the offense of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device under either of two alternative bases – the magazine he possessed "has the capacity" to accept more than 10 rounds of ammunition or it "can be readily restored or converted to accept more than 10 rounds of ammunition." Government Memorandum, R. 20 at 2.

Defendant responded that the factual stipulation submitted in the case was insufficient to find Mr. Robertson guilty under either theory proposed by the government because the stipulation did not show that the ammunition feeding device was "operable" or could be "restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition." Defendant Memorandum, R. 21 at 4.

Judge Staples held an oral argument on the sufficiency of the factual stipulation to find Mr. Robertson guilty of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device on December 15, 2022. Judge Staples ruled "as a matter of law, the capacity feeding device does not have to be proven to be operable." Tr. 12/15/22 at 7. No evidence was introduced that the device was operable, and Judge Staples never found that it was operable, only that it had the capacity to hold more than 10

rounds, and on that basis found Mr. Robertson guilty of the ammunition feeding device charge. *Id.* However, with respect to the government's alternative argument, Judge Staples held that the stipulated facts were insufficient for him to find that the magazine could be "readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition." *Id.* at 11. Judge Staples reached this conclusion because "there is a crucial connecting fact that's missing from the stipulated facts" -- the stipulation did not specify that the separated spring and base plate comprised all of the component parts necessary for a magazine that could be "readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition." *Id.* at 9, 11.

Mr. Robertson was subsequently sentenced by Judge Staples on March 3, 2023, to a prison term of 36 months, followed by three years of supervised probation, and payment of \$400 to the victims of crime fund. Tr. 3/3/2023 at 15-16; R. 25 (Sentence of the Court).³

A timely notice of appeal was filed on March 3, 2023, R. 26, and this court appointed undersigned counsel (who was not trial counsel) to represent Mr. Robertson on appeal.

³ Mr. Robertson was sentenced to concurrent terms of imprisonment of 36 months for felon in possession, 19 months for carrying a pistol without a license, 9 months for possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, 6 months for possession of an unregistered firearm, and 6 months for possession of unregistered ammunition. Tr. 3/3/2023 at 15-16. This was the minimum sentence authorized by D.C. law. *Id.* at 15.

II. Statement of the Facts

The facts surrounding Mr. Robertson's arrest were provided in the testimony of D.C. Metropolitan Police Officer Pablo Rosa at the suppression hearing held on November 7, 2022. Based on Officer Rosa's testimony, the trial court found that the police received a 911 call from a man who identified himself as Chris and stated that he saw a black male flashing a gun on the street. *Id.* at 178. Based on that 911 call, the police sent out a radio run describing the man as wearing a black top and blue jeans and indicated that he was with a woman with a blond haircut, wearing a teal shirt and white pants. *Id.* Officer Rosa testified that he could not remember whether the lookout contained any description of the man's build, his height, his weight, his hairstyle, or his facial hair. *Id.* at 144, 167.

Officer Rosa and his partner saw a man and woman who appeared to meet the lookout description in the 600 block of T Street, N.W. at about 2:30 a.m., and exited their police cruiser. *Id.* at 149-50, 179. Officer Rosa's partner asked the man if he could speak to him, but the man left on his bicycle. *Id.* Officer Rosa testified that he did not see any weapon or bulge in Mr. Robertson's pocket when he first approached him on T Street, N.W. *Id.* at 165. A short time later, he saw Mr. Robertson again, in the custody of other police officers. *Id.* at 150. Officer Rosa observed a bulge in Mr. Robertson's right front pocket, and when the item in his pocket was removed it turned out to be a gun. *Id.* at 151.

Based on these facts, the trial court found that the police had reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Robinson, in light of his "unprovoked flight" from Officer Rosa and his partner, and had reasonable suspicion to later pat him down after observing the bulge in his pocket. *Id.* at 180.

Subsequent to the suppression hearing, the parties submitted a stipulation of facts with respect to the pistol, bullets, and large capacity ammunition feeding device found in Mr. Robertson's pocket. R. 19. Judge Staples accepted the factual stipulation and stated it would form the basis for his verdicts in the case. Tr. 11/8/22 at 14-19. The stipulation provided:

The parties in this case, the United States and the defendant, Wayne Robertson, hereby stipulate and agree as follows:

- 1. The defense and the government agree that on July 22, 2022, at approximately 2:20 a.m. in the 500 block of R St. NW, Washington, DC, the defendant, Wayne Robertson possessed a firearm.
- 2. The defense and the government agree that the firearm recovered in this case-a black Taurus G2C 9mm pistol with the serial number "ACD753615"-is a firearm designed to expel a projectile by means of an explosive, is designed to be fired with a single hand, and has a barrel length of less than 12 inches.
- 3. The defense and the government agree that the magazine inserted into the recovered firearm had a capacity of 15 rounds. When the firearm was recovered from the defendant, the spring and base plate of the magazine were protruding from the bottom of the magazine as depicted in Attachment A. MPD officers removed the spring from the magazine after recovering the firearm. The spring and baseplate were separate from the magazine when documentary photos were

taken at the station as depicted in Attachment B.

- 4. The defense and the government agree that, as of July 22, 2022, the defendant, Wayne Robertson, did not have a license to carry a pistol in the District of Columbia, as required by the law of the District of Columbia.
- 5. The defense and the government agree that, as of July 22, 2022, the defendant; Wayne Robertson, did not have a valid registration certificate, as required by the law of the District of Columbia, to possess a firearm or ammunition. The firearm recovered in this case was not registered to the defendant.
- 6. The defense and the government agree that, on July 22, 2022, the defendant, Wayne Robertson, had previously been convicted of a crime of violence punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year. The defense and the government further agree that, on July 22, 2022, the defendant, Wayne Robertson, knew that he had been convicted of a crime of violence punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year.
- 7. The defendant's actions were voluntary and on purpose, and not the product of mistake of [sic] accident.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The statutory provision criminalizing possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b) (2001 ed.), requires that the device be operable. This is an issue of first impression that has not previously been addressed by this Court. The operability requirement flows from the language of the statutory provision, § 7-2506.01(b), read as a whole. This statute defines a large capacity ammunition feeding device as a device with "a capacity of, or that can be

readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition" (emphasis added). The statute further states: "The term 'large capacity ammunition feeding device' shall not include an attached tubular device designed to accept, and capable of operating only with, .22 caliber rimfire ammunition" (emphasis added). A plain reading of this statutory language necessarily leads to the conclusion that operability involving non-.22 caliber ammunition is an essential element of this offense.

This Court has required operability for many other weapons-related offenses, including carrying a pistol without a license, possession of a machine gun, possession of a shotgun or a sawed-off shotgun, and carrying a "dangerous weapon." The D.C. Council subsequently amended these weapons offenses to specify that operability was not required, but on the very same day that the D.C. Council passed that law it also passed the law criminalizing possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, without containing the weapons operability language, and in fact containing opposite language defining a large capacity ammunition feeding device as a device that "shall not include an attached tubular device designed to accept, and capable of operating only with, .22 caliber rimfire ammunition" (emphasis added).

The legislative reports for these two laws were also released on the same day, and made clear that the purposes of the two statutes were different. The D.C.

Council adopted the provision eliminating the operability requirement for certain weapons offenses because even inoperable weapons can still appear dangerous to others who observe them, but adopted the large capacity ammunition feeding device prohibition "to prevent the ability of an individual to fire a large quantity of ammunition without having to pause to reload." Council of the District of Columbia Committee on Public Safety and the Judiciary, Report on Bill 17-843, November 25, 2008, at 2.

Finally, if this Court should find the statutory language unclear as to operability, the rule of lenity should be applied to interpret the statute most favorable to the defendant and require operability. For all these reasons, the trial court erred in concluding that operability was not an essential element of the offense, and erred in convicting Mr. Robertson for possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device without evidence that the device was operable.

* * *

All of Mr. Robertson's convictions must be reversed because the evidence in this case was seized after police officers illegally stopped and searched Mr. Robertson without reasonable, articulable suspicion that he had committed any criminal offense. The police based their stop of Mr. Robertson on a 911 call describing a black male wearing dark clothes holding a gun in the area of T and 7th Streets, N.W., and when police officers arrived in that area they observed Mr.

Robertson, a black male wearing dark clothing get on a bicycle and drive away. He was later observed with a bulge in his pocket. These facts did not provide reasonable, articulatable grounds to believe that criminal activity was afoot, as required for a *Terry* stop and frisk. This case is similar to *Miles v. United States*, 181 A.3d 633 (D.C. 2018), where this Court held that police did not have reasonable suspicion to support the detention and frisk of the defendant based on a 911 call from a "concerned citizen" describing a man "shooting a gun in the air," and defendant's flight after police officers approached him near the location of the alleged shooting. 181 A.3d at 639-40.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding that Mr. Robertson Could be Convicted of Possessing a Large Capacity Ammunition Feeding Device Without Evidence That the Device was Operable

A. Factual Background

The statutory offense of possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b) (2001 ed.), states:

No person in the District shall possess, sell, or transfer any large capacity ammunition feeding device regardless of whether the device is attached to a firearm. For the purposes of this subsection, the term "large capacity ammunition feeding device" means a magazine, belt, drum, feed strip, or similar device that has a capacity of, or that can be

readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition. The term "large capacity ammunition feeding device" shall not include an attached tubular device designed to accept, and capable of operating only with, .22 caliber rimfire ammunition.

The factual stipulation submitted by the parties relating to this offense stated as follows, R. 19 at 1, para. 2:

The defense and the government agree that the magazine inserted into the recovered firearm had a capacity of 15 rounds. When the firearm was recovered from the defendant, the spring and base plate of the magazine were protruding from the bottom of the magazine as depicted in Attachment A. MPD officers removed the spring from the magazine after recovering the firearm. The spring and baseplate were separate from the magazine when documentary photos were taken at the station as depicted in Attachment B.

The government argued in the trial court that Mr. Robertson was guilty of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device under either of two alternative bases – the magazine he possessed "has the capacity" to accept more than 10 rounds of ammunition or it "can be readily restored or converted to accept more than 10 rounds of ammunition." R. 20 at 2.

Defense counsel argued that the factual stipulation submitted in the case was insufficient to find Mr. Robertson guilty under either theory proposed by the government because the stipulation did not show that the ammunition feeding device was "operable." R. 21 at 4.

Judge Staples issued an oral ruling that concluded "as a matter of law, the

capacity feeding device does not have to be proven to be operable." Tr. 12/15/22 at 7. In fact, no evidence was introduced that the device was operable, and Judge Staples never found it was was operable, only that it had the capacity to hold more than 10 rounds. *Id.* However, Judge Staples rejected the government's alternative argument that the magazine could be "readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition." *Id.* at 11. Judge Staples reached this conclusion because "there is a crucial connecting fact that's missing from the stipulated facts" -- the stipulation did not specify that the separated spring and base plate comprised all of the component parts necessary for a magazine that could be "readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition." *Id.* at 9, 11.

B. Applicable Legal Principles

This Court has not yet addressed the question of whether the government must prove that a large capacity ammunition feeding device is operable before a defendant can be convicted of its unlawful possession. This Court has addressed the operability requirement for a number of other weapons offenses, concluding that operability is required to convict a person of carrying a pistol without a license,⁴

⁴Lee v. United States, 402 A.2d 840, 841 (D.C. 1979).

possession of a shotgun or a sawed-off shotgun,⁵ possession of a machine gun,⁶ and carrying a "dangerous weapon," but was not required for possession of a BB gun.⁸

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed in this Court *de novo*. *Holloway v. United States*, 951 A.2d 59, 60 (D.C. 2008). Several general rules of statutory construction guide this Court's analysis of whether operability is required to convict a person of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device. The primary rule is that "the intent of the lawmaker is to be found in the language that he has used." *In re D.F., supra*, 70 A.3d at 243 (quoting *Peoples Drug Stores, Inc. v. District of Columbia*, 470 A.2d 751, 753 (D.C.1983) (*en banc*)); *see also Brownlee v. District of Columbia Dep't of Health*, 978 A.2d 1244, 1249 n. 8 (D.C. 2008).

Moreover, the words of a statute should be read in light of the statute taken as a whole:

Statutory interpretation, we have recognized, is "a holistic endeavor, ... in which we must consider not only the bare meaning of [words] but also [their] placement and purpose in the statutory scheme. *District of Columbia Appleseed Ctr. for Law & Justice, Inc. v. District of Columbia Dep't of Ins., Sec. & Banking,* 54 A.3d 1188 (D.C. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). "The literal words of a statute ... are

⁵ Washington v. United States, 498 A.2d 247, 249 (D.C. 1985).

⁶ Moore v. United States, 927 A.2d 1040, 1060 (D.C. 2007).

⁷ Strong v. United States, 581 A.2d 383, 386 (D.C. 1990) (inoperable pistol is not a "dangerous weapon").

⁸ In re D.F., 70 A.3d 240, 241 (D.C. 2013).

not the sole index to legislative intent, but rather, are to be read in light of the statute taken as a whole," with the goal of interpreting the statute "as a harmonious whole." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

In re D.F., *supra*, 70 A.3d at 243-44 (citations in original).

It is also appropriate to consider the legislative history of a statute and the "purpose of the statutory scheme" if they assist in explicating statutory terms:

[A] court may refuse to adhere strictly to the plain language of a statute in order to effectuate the legislative purpose as determined by a reading of the legislative history or by an examination of the statute as a whole.

In re D.F., *supra*, 70 A.3d at 243 (quoting *District of Columbia v. Edison Place*, 892 A.2d 1108, 1111 (D.C.2006) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted).

Finally, if after considering all of above sources, this Court finds statutory language ambiguous or in genuine doubt, the rule of lenity requires that a criminal statute be interpreted in favor of the defendant. *Holloway v. United States, supra*, 951 A.2d at 65.

To be sure, the "rule of lenity" is "a secondary canon of construction, and is to be invoked only where the statutory language, structure, purpose and history leave the intent of the legislation in genuine doubt.".... However, after all of these primary guides to the meaning of a criminal or penal statute have been taken into account and ambiguity remains, that ambiguity should be resolved in favor of the defendant.

Washington v. D.C. Dep't of Pub. Works, 954 A.2d 945, 948-49 (D.C. 2008) (citations and footnote omitted).

C. <u>Legal Argument</u>

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