BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-175

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

WAYNE D. ROBERTSON,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

MATTHEW M. GRAVES **United States Attorney**

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO STEPHANIE DINAN DAVID WILLIAM LAWRENCE

- * DAVID P. SAYBOLT, VA Bar #44518 **Assistant United States Attorneys**
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 David.Saybolt@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF2-4203

Clerk of the Court Received 09/08/2023 10:41 AM Filed 09/08/2023 10:41 AM

Appellee.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err by denying Robertson's motion to suppress the gun and ammunition recovered from his pants pocket. Contrary to Robertson's claim, the identified-citizen caller, who described seeing a man with a gun, provided a detailed description of the man and the woman with him, and gave their location and direction of travel, provided police with a sufficient basis to stop Robertson, who matched the description and location. Robertson's unprovoked flight provided additional support for the stop.

Nor did the trial court err by ruling that the LCM statute does not require the government to prove that the large capacity magazine found on Robertson's person was operable. The LCM statute plainly requires only that a defendant possess a magazine, and that the magazine be capable of holding 10 rounds of ammunition; the trial court found without clear error that both of those conditions had been met. On appeal, Robertson presents a new argument—that the statutory scheme and legislative history require reading an operability requirement into the statute. His arguments lack merit because the plain meaning of the statute is unambiguous and does not require operability; furthermore, neither the statutory scheme nor the legislative history supports his claim.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Concluding that Police Possessed Reasonable Articulable Suspicion to Stop and Frisk Robertson.

Robertson claims (at 20-23) that the trial court erred by concluding police had reasonable articulable suspicion to stop him and, consequently, to frisk him. His claim lacks merit.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, "the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in favor of sustaining the trial court ruling." *Plummer v. United States*, 983 A.2d 323, 330 (D.C. 2009) (citing *Shelton v. United States*, 929 A.2d 420, 423 (D.C. 2007)). In addition, this Court "must defer to the motions court's findings of fact as to the circumstances surrounding the appellant's encounter with the police and [must] uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous." *Plummer*, 983 A.2d at 330 (citing *Shelton*, 929 A.2d at 423).

Reasonable articulable suspicion to support a stop can be based on an informant's tip. Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 147 (1972). Information from an identified citizen is presumptively reliable. Joseph v. United States, 926 A.2d 156, 1161-62 (D.C. 2007); see, e.g., (Marvin) Brown v. United States, 590 A.2d 1008, 1016 (D.C. 1991) ("A person who does not hide behind the cloak of anonymity, but who voluntarily comes forward and identifies himself or herself, is more likely to be telling the truth because he or she is presumably aware of the possibility of being arrested for making a false report"). An anonymous tip may also provide reasonable articulable suspicion for a stop if the tip is "reliable in its assertion of illegality' and 'in its tendency to identify a determinate person." Jackson v. United States, 109 A.3d 1105, 1107 (D.C. 2015) (quoting Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 272 (2000)).

B. Analysis

Contrary to Robertson's claim (at 20-23), the trial court did not err in concluding that police possessed reasonable articulable suspicion to stop (and frisk) Robertson. Robertson asserts no clear error in the court's factual findings. Indeed, the court's findings were amply grounded in Officer Rosa's testimony, as supported by the 911 call, the recorded radio run, and his own BWC, and were not therefore plainly wrong or without facts to support them. D.C. Code § 17-305(a).

To start, the tip from the identified citizen alone was sufficient basis for the stop. As the court found, the caller identified himself by first name and phone number (see 11-7-22 Tr. 178). Because the caller thus gave sufficient information that police could identify him, his tip was not from an anonymous caller but was from an identified citizen and thus was presumptively reliable. *Joseph*, 926 A.2d at 1161-62; *see also id.* at 1162 (caller who identified himself by last name, address, and telephone number removed case from the *Florida v. J.L.* line of cases involving unidentified informants); *United States v. Kehoe*, 893 F.3d 232, 239 (4th Cir. 2018) (caller who provided his first name and phone number not anonymous because that "crucial information allowed police to ascertain his identity"); State v. Miller, 815 N.W.2d 349, 364-65 (Wis. 2012) (informant "not truly anonymous" where he provided his first name and phone number and thus risked being tracked down by police). Moreover, the identified caller described witnessing a crime—a man flashing an illegal gun at a third person (11-7-22 Tr. 178). As the court found, his description was particular, not only of the suspect (black male, black top, blue jeans, with a gun on his person) but of his companion (black female wearing a teal shirt, white pants, with blonde hair cut shaved close) (*id*.). The 911 caller additionally stated that the man brandishing the gun was on a bike (GX.3). The caller gave a specific location (700 block of T Street at the bus stop) and direction of travel (toward the Howard Theater) (id.). When police arrived, each of these details proved accurate: Robertson was in the 600 block of T Street next to the Howard Theater wearing a black shirt and dark pants and holding a bicycle; he was accompanied by a woman in a teal shirt and white pants (11-7-22 Tr. 149-50, 154, 165, 178; GX.2 at 2:16:17). Viewing these facts in the light favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling, see Plummer, 983 A.2d at 330, the identified-citizen tip alone supported Robertson's stop. See Joseph, 926 A.2d at 1161 (call from citizen who provided last name, address, and

phone number, and described seeing man with a gun at specific location wearing gray sweatshirt, blue jeans, and brown Timberland boots sufficient to support stop and frisk); *Groves v. United States*, 504 A.2d 602, 604-05 (D.C. 1986) (same; caller gave name, described man with a gun in "white over green" Pontiac, and gave location of the car at the time of the call).

Even if analogized to an anonymous tip—which this was not—the call and police observations upon first encountering Robertson provided reasonable articulable suspicion for the stop. The caller claimed eyewitness knowledge, the timeline of events suggested he reported the incident soon after seeing it, and he used a 911 system known to employ features for tracing and identifying callers. Jackson, 109 A.3d at 1108. Moreover, the caller described the suspect, his companion, and their location and direction of travel with accuracy and particularity. His tip, therefore, was "reliable both in its assertion of illegality and in its tendency to identify a determinate person." Id.; see id. at 1108-09 (anonymous tip sufficient for stop; caller called 911, reported seeing a black male wearing brown windbreaker and black hat pull a revolver from his pocket, and gave location and direction of travel).

Furthermore, as the court properly found (11-7-22 Tr. 179-80), Robertson's flight was unprovoked. This consciousness-of-guilt evidence provided further support for the stop. *See Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000) ("Headlong flight—wherever it occurs—is the consummate act of evasion: It is not necessarily indicative of wrongdoing, but it is certainly suggestive of such."); *see, e.g., Wade v. United States*, 173 A.3d 87, 90, 92 (D.C. 2017) (finding reasonable articulable suspicion for stop where anonymous 911 caller reported seeing man with a gun in his waistband, described man and person with him, and defendant and second man, who matched the caller's descriptions, began running when police approached).

Robertson relies (at 22) on *Miles v. United States*, 181 A.3d 633 (D.C. 2018), but that case does not aid him. In *Miles*, the source of the call was unclear, and the caller left no callback number; the description was vague (blue army jacket) and inaccurate (the jacket was gray); and the defendant's flight was provoked by a police officer who pulled his cruiser onto the sidewalk in front of him and told him to "stop." 181 A.3d at 641-44. Here, by contrast, the citizen called 911 and left his name and

phone number, the description he provided of both parties was detailed and accurate, and Robertson's flight was unprovoked.²

Finally, Robertson briefs no freestanding challenge to the frisk, and has therefore abandoned such a claim. See Bardoff v. United States, 628 A.2d 86, 90 n.8 (D.C. 1993). Even so, police stopped Robertson in response to a reliable and particular firearms tip, and, upon stopping him, observed an L-shaped bulge in his pants (11-7-22 Tr. 178-80). The court did not err in concluding (see *id.* at 180) that, on the strength of these facts, police had ample basis to frisk Robertson and recover the gun. See Singleton v. United States, 998 A.2d 295, 302 (D.C. 2010) (bulge consistent with firearm in defendant's pocket sufficient to support frisk). For these reasons, the trial court did not err in denying Robertson's motion.

² Nor do the other cases on which Robertson relies (at 22-23) aid him. *Armstrong v. United States*, 164 A.3d 102, 108 (D.C. 2017), describes a robbery lookout not a tip, and the description was vague ("white car, possibly a Mercury Sable, with tinted windows and two black males"). In *Cauthen v. United States*, 592 A.2d 1021 (D.C. 1991), the citizen tip contained no description (three to four persons selling drugs at a location), police did not arrive for 15 minutes, and the defendant merely walked away from police "at a brisk pace." *Id.* at 1021-22. *Mayo v. United States*, 266 A.3d 244, 257 (D.C. 2022), has been vacated. *See* 284 A.3d 403 (D.C. 2022).

II. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Concluding that the LCM Statute Does Not Require the Government to Prove Operability.

Robertson claims (at 10-20) that the trial court erred by concluding that the government was not required to prove that the magazine was "operable" to support a conviction under the LCM statute, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b). His claim lacks merit.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

This Court reviews de novo questions of statutory construction. *In re T.L.*, 996 A.2d 805, 810 (D.C. 2010).

1. Statutory Construction

"The primary and general rule of statutory construction is that the intent of the lawmaker is to be found in the language that he has used." *Solon v. United States*, 196 A.3d 1283, 1287 (D.C. 2018) (quoting *Peoples Drug Stores v. District of Columbia*, 470 A.2d 751, 753 (D.C. 1983) (en banc)) (cleaned up); *see also Brownlee v. District of Columbia Dep't of Health*, 978 A.2d 1244, 1249 n.8 (D.C. 2009) ("Statutory or regulatory construction begins with the plain language of the statute or regulation.") (cleaned up). "When the plain meaning of the statutory language is unambiguous, the intent of the legislature is clear, and judicial inquiry need go no further." *District of Columbia v. Gallagher*, 734 A.2d 1087, 1091 (D.C. 1999) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Court may appropriately look beyond plain meaning where (1) "a review of the legislative history or an in-depth consideration of alternative constructions" of the statutory language reveals ambiguities that the court must resolve; (2) the literal meaning of the statute "produces absurd results"; (3) the plain meaning construction leads to an "obvious injustice"; or (4) refusal to adhere to plain meaning is necessary in order to "effectuate the legislative purpose" of the statute as a whole. *Dobyns v. United States*, 30 A.3d 155, 159–61 (D.C. 2011) (quoting *Peoples Drug Stores*, 470 A.2d at 753).

2. The LCM Statute

In 2009, the D.C. Council added a new provision to D.C. Code § 7-2506.01, prohibiting the possession of a "large capacity ammunition feeding device":

(b) No person in the District shall possess, sell, or transfer any large capacity ammunition feeding device regardless of whether the device is attached to a firearm. For the purposes of this subsection, the term "large capacity ammunition feeding device" means a magazine, belt, drum, feed strip, or similar device that has a capacity of, or that can be readily restored or converted to accept, more than 10 rounds of ammunition. The term "large capacity ammunition feeding device" shall not include an attached tubular device designed to accept, and capable of operating only with, .22 caliber rimfire ammunition.

§ 7-2506.01(b); see Firearms Registration Amendment Act of 2008, D.C. Law 17-372, § 3(n), 56 D.C. Reg. 1365 (eff. Mar. 31, 2009). The statute was modeled on a similar provision in the federal assault weapons ban, 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(30), (w)(1) (1994), which lapsed in 2004, and a similar California statute. See D.C. Council Comm. on Public Safety and the Judiciary, Rep. on Bill 17-843, the "Firearms Registration Amendment Act of 2008," at 2, 8 (Nov. 25, 2008) ("2008 Firearms Registration Amendment Act Report") (Appendix to Appellant's Brief (App.) 64); see also United States v. Little, 780 Fed. App'x 719, 723 (11th Cir. 2019).

B. Analysis

As we have noted, the trial court found that the magazine possessed by Robertson had the capacity to hold more than 10 rounds and convicted him under the language that prohibited possession of a "a magazine, belt, drum, feed strip, or similar device that has a capacity of . . . more than 10 rounds of ammunition" (12-15-22 Tr. 9-11). Robertson does not challenge the court's factual finding that the magazine had a capacity of more than 10 rounds (id. at 10; see 11-8-22 Tr. 10 (magazine had capacity of 15 rounds)). He contends, however, that the court erred by concluding that the portion of the statute under which he was convicted does not require the government to prove the magazine was "operable" (Brief for Appellant at 10-20). Although on appeal, Robertson does not specify what he believes the term "operable" means, we understand his challenge to allege, as he claimed before the trial court, "[t]hat to be a high capacity feeding device, the thing must accept more than 10 cartridges and also feed them" (R.21:4) (emphasis added). Because the spring and base plate of the magazine in this case were protruding from the bottom of the magazine (11-8-22 Tr. 10), we concede there was no evidence that Robertson's magazine could feed more than 10 rounds into the firearm. The trial court, however, correctly held that operability is not an element of the offense of possession of an LCM.

1. The Plain Meaning of the LCM Statute Does Not Require Operability.

The LCM statute defines "large capacity ammunition feeding device." § 7-2506.01(b). As relevant here, that definition contains two requirements: (1) the device is "a magazine, belt, drum, feed strip, or similar device" and (2) the device "has a capacity of . . . more than 10 rounds." *Id.* On its face, the statute does not require the device to feed ammunition.

Nor can operability be read into the plain meaning of the statute. Taking the second requirement first, the term "capacity" is undefined in the statute, but commonly refers to "the potential or suitability for holding, storing, or accommodating," "*Capacity*," Merriam-Webster, <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/magazine</u> (last accessed Aug. 28, 2023), or "[t]he ability to receive, hold, or absorb," *American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language* 274 (Houghton Mifflin Harcourt 5th ed. 2016). Accordingly, the second statutory element requires only that the device has a *capacity* of more than 10 rounds but does not require that the device be capable of *feeding* those rounds into a firearm.

Turning to the first requirement, the terms "magazine," "belt," "drum," and "feed strip" are not defined in the statute, or in the D.C. Code more broadly.³ Robertson himself suggests no definitions. The dictionary

³ Nor are they defined in the federal statute on which the D.C. statute was modelled.

definitions of "magazine," however, contemplate that a magazine is designed or intended to hold and feed ammunition, but do not require operability. *See "Magazine,"* Merriam-Webster.com (last accessed Aug. 28, 2023) ("a holder in or on a gun for cartridges [] to be fed into the gun chamber"); *American Heritage Dictionary*, at 1053 ("A compartment in some types of firearms, often a small detachable box, in which cartridges are held to be fed into the firing chamber").

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